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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
AUSTIN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.
LAKEWAY REGIONAL MEDICAL
CENTER, LLC, SURGICAL
DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS, LLC, SDP
OF AUSTIN ENTERPRISES, LLC,
G. EDWARD ALEXANDER, FRANK
SOSSI, and JOHN PRATER,
Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Civil Action No. A-19-CV-0945

UNITED STATES’ COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND
For its Complaint against Defendants Lakeway Regional Medical Center, LLC (LRMC),
Surgical Development Partners LLC (SDP), SDP of Austin Enterprises LLC (SDP-Austin), G.
Edward Alexander, Frank Sossi, and John Prater, the United States alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1.

The United States brings this civil action to recover for harm sustained by the

United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) resulting from the default
by Defendant LRMC on a mortgage loan to LRMC insured by HUD’s Federal Housing
Administration (FHA), and the misuse of proceeds from that loan by Defendants LRMC, SDP,
SDP-Austin, Alexander, Sossi, and Prater.
2.

Acting through its manager SDP-Austin, and SDP’s principals and agents

Alexander, Prater and Sossi, LRMC applied for and received an FHA-insured mortgage loan,
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pursuant to Section 242 of the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-7, to fund the
construction of a new hospital in Lakeway, Texas.
3.

The failure or success of any new hospital in large part depends on the support

from local physicians who will both practice at and refer patients to the hospital. HUD’s review
of LRMC’s application therefore focused on the level of physician support for the proposed
hospital.
4.

Unbeknownst to HUD, Defendants made and conspired to make numerous false

statements and material omissions during the application process in order to overstate physician
support for the hospital and understate other key credit risks, thereby obtaining FHA insurance
under false pretenses.
5.

At the loan closing, physician support for the hospital had eroded, and Defendants

were short over $5 million of the approximately $38 million investment equity required by HUD
to close the loan. Rather than inform HUD of these facts, Defendants LRMC, SDP, SDP-Austin,
Sossi, Alexander and Prater conspired to cover the shortfall with a number of kiting and
kickback schemes.
6.

First, Defendants declined to refund money to physician investors who had

cancelled their investments in the hospital. Instead, Defendants knowingly used more than $1.8
million previously provided by these former investors—essentially borrowing these funds—to
fund LRMC’s down payment on the FHA-insured loan. Defendants later reimbursed the
investors with the proceeds from the FHA-insured loan.
7.

Second, Defendants made material changes to LRMC’s investment structure,

without the required HUD approval, in order to secure additional loans from non-physicians to
cover the physician shortfall. In addition to the $1.8 million shortfall described above, certain
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physician investors had originally promised to invest in the hospital, but, when given the
opportunity to cancel their investments, elected to not contribute $3.7 million in promised funds.
LRMC borrowed from non-physician insiders to cover the shortfall. In this way, LRMC and
Defendants SDP, SDP-Austin, Alexander, Prater and Sossi concealed from HUD that the level of
physician investment, which Defendants knew HUD viewed as a proxy for physician support for
the hospital, had dropped, and once again improperly borrowed funds to meet the down payment
requirement.
8.

Finally, Defendants LRMC, SDP, SDP-Austin, Alexander, Prater, and Sossi

agreed to pay kickbacks to certain insider investors to secure additional investment to cover the
shortfall. Sossi, with the agreement of Defendants Alexander and Prater, negotiated “side
agreements” with LRMC board members in the days before closing. These side agreements
provided that the board members would loan LRMC $1.5 million to close, in return for $900,000
in “fees” for unspecified work to be performed, and for early redemption of purchased notes.
9.

All of these schemes violated HUD’s regulatory requirements. HUD would not

have allowed closing to occur had it known LRMC could not meet the “cash to close”
requirement. LRMC’s use of borrowed funds, from investors who had withdrawn their
investments and from loans obtained through kickbacks, violated statutory requirements and the
express terms of the Regulatory Agreement entered into by LRMC and HUD. As a result of
Defendants’ scheme, LRMC was insolvent at the time of closing, but that fact was concealed
from HUD. Defendants’ fraud caused the loan to close and become insured by the FHA.
10.

These misrepresentations went directly to LRMC’s ability to successfully open

and operate a hospital. Defendants concealed LRMC’s insolvency and concealed significant

-3-

Case 1:19-cv-00945-LY Document 1 Filed 09/25/19 Page 4 of 58

deterioration in physician support that were material to HUD’s evaluation of the credit risk of the
hospital.
11.

Defendants’ fraud did not stop at closing. Defendants made numerous improper

distributions from restricted LRMC funds in violation of LRMC’s Regulatory Agreement,
including the kickback fees to board members described above. LRMC also used funds from the
FHA-insured loan to pay for federal lobbying even after HUD informed LRMC that such a
payment would violate federal law.
12.

LRMC was built at significant cost but was a failure from the start. It never

operated profitably, defaulting within three months of HUD’s Final Endorsement. Ultimately
HUD paid claims for $172 million in connection with the LRMC loan.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
13.

This action arises under the False Claims Act (FCA), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733;

the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA), 12 U.S.C.
§ 1833a; the common law theory of negligent misrepresentation; and the Double Damages
Remedy, 12 U.S.C. § 1715Z–4A. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 and 31 U.S.C. §§ 3730 and 3732.
14.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because the Defendants can

be found in or transact business within the Western District of Texas.
15.

Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), 28 U.S.C.

§ 1395, and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), because LRMC can be found and transacts business within the
Western District of Texas and because a substantial part of the events and omissions that give
rise to the claims occurred in this district.
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THE PARTIES
16.

Plaintiff is the United States of America.

17.

Defendant LRMC is a Texas limited liability company that previously operated a

hospital in Lakeway, Texas.
18.

Defendant SDP is an Ohio limited liability company. SDP developed and

managed the operations of LRMC.
19.

Defendant SDP-Austin is a Texas limited liability company. SDP acted through

SDP-Austin. The actions of SDP described herein were also the actions of SDP-Austin as the
two companies acted interchangeably.
20.

Defendant Alexander is a natural person who resides in the state of Tennessee.

Alexander is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of SDP and acted as a principal, and served on
the board, of LRMC.
21.

Defendant Prater is a natural person who resides in the state of Tennessee. Prater

is the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of SDP and acted as the CFO of LRMC.
22.

Defendant Sossi is a natural person who resides in the state of Ohio. Sossi is an

attorney who acted at times as an attorney for LRMC and SDP, but also served as a consultant to
LRMC and as LRMC’s CEO.
THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT
23.

Originally enacted in the 1860s to combat fraud against the Union Army during

the Civil War, the FCA is the primary tool with which the United States combats false or
fraudulent claims against the Government and protects federal funds. The Supreme Court has
held that the FCA’s provisions must be construed broadly to reach “all types of fraud, without
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qualification, that might result in financial loss to the Government.” United States v. NeifertWhite Co., 390 U.S. 228, 232 (1968).
24.

Under the FCA, a person is liable to the United States Government for each

instance in which the person knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent
claim for payment or approval. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A). The FCA also makes liable any
person who “knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement
material to a false or fraudulent claim.” Id. § 3729(a)(1)(B). It further makes liable any person
who “conspires to commit a violation of” the sections cited above. Id. § 3729(a)(1)(C).
25.

The Act defines “knowingly” to mean that a person “(i) has actual knowledge of

the information; (ii) acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or
(iii) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information.” 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(b)(1)(A). Proof of specific intent to defraud is not required. Id. § 3729(b)(1)(B).
26.

A request for payment made under a federal loan guarantee that was obtained in

violation of a statute, regulation, or program requirement, by the use of a false statement, or by
means of other fraudulent conduct qualifies as a false “claim” under the FCA.
27.

Any person who violates the FCA “is liable to the United States Government for a

civil penalty of not less than [$5,500] and not more than [$11,000] . . . , plus 3 times the amount
of damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that person.” 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(a)(1); 28 C.F.R. § 85.3(a)(9).
FIRREA
28.

Congress enacted FIRREA in 1989 to reform the federal banking system. Toward

that end, FIRREA authorizes civil enforcement of enumerated criminal predicate offenses—

-6-

Case 1:19-cv-00945-LY Document 1 Filed 09/25/19 Page 7 of 58

established by a preponderance of the evidence—that affect financial institutions and certain
government agencies, including HUD. See 12 U.S.C. § 1833a(e).
29.

Two of the predicate offenses that can form the basis of liability under FIRREA

are relevant here. First, 18 U.S.C. § 1006 prohibits any person who is “connected in any
capacity with [HUD]” from “mak[ing] any false entry in any book, report or statement of or to
[HUD]” with the “intent to . . . deceive any officer, auditor, examiner, or agent . . . of [a]
department or agency of the United States.” Second, 18 U.S.C. § 1014 (as amended on July 30,
2008) prohibits any person from “knowingly mak[ing] any false statement or report . . . for the
purpose of influencing in any way the action of [HUD].”
30.

FIRREA generally allows the United States to recover civil penalties of up to $1

million per violation, or, for a continuing violation, up to $5 million or $1 million per day,
whichever is less. However, in cases such as this, where the violation results in both a gain to
the perpetrator and pecuniary loss to the victim, the United States can recover the amount of any
gain to the person committing the violation, or the amount of the loss to a person other than the
violator stemming from such conduct, up to the amount of the gain or loss.
NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION
31.

The United States may bring common law claims under federal common law.

32.

Under the common law of negligent misrepresentation, the United States can

recover damages caused by any person with a pecuniary interest in the transaction who supplies
false information upon which the United States justifiably relies.
DOUBLE DAMAGES REMEDY
33.

The Double Damages Remedy provides a broad remedy to deter anyone from

improperly distributing funds from a HUD insured project. Under the Double Damages
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Remedy, the United States may bring an action against any “person” for the “use of assets or
income in violation of [a] Regulatory Agreement” with HUD. 12 U.S.C. § 1715z–4a (a).
Further, “[f]or purposes of this section, a use of assets or income in violation of the regulatory
agreement, or such other form of regulatory control as may be imposed by the Secretary, or any
applicable regulation shall include any use for which the documentation in the books and
accounts does not establish that the use was made for a reasonable operating expense or
necessary repair of the property and has not been maintained in accordance with the
requirements of the Secretary and in reasonable condition for proper audit.” Id. § 1715z–4a
(a)(1).
34.

Liability extends to “any beneficial owner of the property under any business or

trust;” “any officer, director, or partner of an entity owning or controlling the property;” “any
hospital lessee or operator;” “any other person or entity that controls the property regardless of
that person or entity’s official relationship to the property; and” “any … agent of any person or
entity described in the preceding subparagraphs.” 12 U.S.C. § 1715z–4a (a)(2)(B), (C), (F), (G).
The United States is entitled to recover “double the value of the assets and income of the
property that the court determines to have been used in violation of the Regulatory
Agreement[.]” Id. § 1715z–4a (c).
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND
I.

FHA RELIES ON ACCURATE AND COMPLETE INFORMATION FROM
BORROWERS TO DETERMINE THE RISK OF DEFAULT AND DECIDE
WHETHER TO INSURE A LOAN.
A.

FHA Offers Mortgage Insurance For Loans That Fund The Construction Of
Hospitals.

35.

HUD is a cabinet-level agency of the United States. FHA, which is a part of

HUD, is one of the largest mortgage insurers in the world. Pursuant to the National Housing Act
of 1934, FHA offers several mortgage insurance programs.
36.

FHA is authorized to provide mortgage insurance for the construction or

rehabilitation of acute care hospitals under Section 242 of the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C.
§ 1715z-7(a). The purpose of the loans is to provide greater access to healthcare in communities
in need of a hospital, with the aim of reducing healthcare costs incurred by the government by
providing better access to medical care.
37.

A lender (often referred to as a mortgagee) who provides the FHA-insured loan to

a borrower must be FHA-approved and in compliance with the general FHA requirements in
order to participate in the hospital program. 24 C.F.R. § 242.5.
38.

A borrower applies for Section 242 FHA insurance with the help of an FHA-

approved lender. The FHA-approved lender—typically a mortgage broker that arranges the loan
but utilizes a larger financial institution to actually fund it— acts as an adviser to the borrower,
helping the borrower understand the application process, assemble the necessary information,
and answer any inquiries from HUD. A borrower submits an application for mortgage loan
insurance in conjunction with an FHA-approved mortgagee. The lender provides the mortgage
loan to the borrower, and FHA insures the loan against potential loss.
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B.

FHA Implemented A Multi-Stage Application Process To Analyze Potential
Borrowers.

39.

In order to minimize risk of default, and to allow borrowers to avoid significant

expense for uninsurable projects, FHA utilizes a multi-step process. As set forth below, this
process includes a preliminary review, a pre-application meeting, an Application, a Firm
Commitment, an Initial Endorsement, and a Final Endorsement, which occurs after construction
is completed. At each of these stages, the borrower is required to submit complete and accurate
information, and FHA relies on that information to move forward with the underwriting process.
i.
40.

The Preliminary Review and Pre-Application Meeting

The first step in this process is a preliminary review. The borrower completes

FHA’s Community Needs Assessment, which allows FHA to determine if there is a
demonstrated need for the proposed hospital, as required by the program. The borrower also
provides preliminary financial information to FHA.
41.

FHA’s preliminary review enables a preliminary determination of eligibility and

feasibility. If, after this review, FHA determines that the proposed project is desirable, FHA
invites the borrower to participate in a pre-application meeting.
42.

At the pre-application meeting, FHA meets with the team proposing the hospital

project. This meeting allows FHA to gather additional information and provides an opportunity
for the proposed project team to give FHA a more detailed presentation on the particulars of the
proposed hospital.
43.

If FHA determines the project is eligible and feasible, FHA invites the borrower

to submit a full application for insurance.

- 10 -

Case 1:19-cv-00945-LY Document 1 Filed 09/25/19 Page 11 of 58

ii.
44.

The Application

The FHA-approved lender assembles the application using information provided

by the borrower and submits the application package to the FHA. The borrower must provide
detailed information about the proposed hospital in the application to FHA, including
architectural and environmental information, organizational information, and a market study. 24
C.F.R. § 242.16.
45.

The borrower must make the following certification in the application:

The undersigned, as the principal sponsor(s) of the proposed mortgage, certify(ies)
that he/she (they) is (are) familiar with the provisions of the regulations of the
Secretary of Housing and Urban Development under the above identified section
of the National Housing Act and that to the best of his/her (their) knowledge and
belief the mortgagor has complied, or will be able to comply, with all of the
requirements thereof which are prerequisite to insurance of the mortgage under
such Section.
It is hereby represented by the undersigned that to the best of his/her (their)
knowledge and belief no information or data contained herein or attachments listed
herein are in any way false or incorrect and that they are truly descriptive of the
project or property which is intended as the security for the proposed mortgage and
that the proposed construction will not violate zoning ordinances or deed
restrictions.
HUD Form 92013-OHF.
46.

The borrower must hire an independent feasibility consultant to review the

proposed project and issue a feasibility study that is included in the application. The feasibility
study reviews the financial outlook for the proposed project, including its anticipated patient
volume, either based upon past performance for rehabilitation loans or projected performance for
new construction loans, anticipated market share, and debt services coverage. 24 C.F.R.
§ 242.16(a)(4).
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iii.
47.

FHA Review and Firm Commitment

FHA assigns a Client Service Team to review the application materials provided

by the borrower. In addition, FHA orders its own separate and independent feasibility study.
48.

The FHA-ordered feasibility study is conducted using the information provided

by the borrower, the borrower-ordered feasibility study, and any additional information
requested by the FHA feasibility consultant and the Client Service Team.
49.

The Client Service Team determines whether the borrower is sufficiently

creditworthy and whether the proposed hospital is an acceptable risk to the FHA insurance fund.
A recommendation is submitted to a credit committee for concurrence, and if approval is
recommended, a report is completed for presentation to the FHA Commissioner to recommend
the issuance of a Firm Commitment. 24 C.F.R. § 242.16(f).
50.

In a Firm Commitment, FHA agrees to endorse the mortgage loan for insurance if

the lender and borrower are able to satisfy certain conditions. The conditions include both
standard conditions and special conditions tailored to the type of mortgage loan and the
particular circumstances of the borrower. FHA will not agree to close on a mortgage loan and
endorse it for insurance if the conditions of the Firm Commitment are not satisfied. 24 C.F.R.
§ 242.17.
51.

The Firm Commitment requires that “[a]ny change in the Drawings and

Specifications or in the conditions upon which this commitment is based, which may occur after
the date hereof, shall be explained in writing, or in a supplementary application if required by the
[FHA], and must be approved by the [FHA] prior to initial endorsement.” HUD Form 92432
Commitment for Insurance of Advances ¶ 3.
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iv.
52.

Initial Endorsement

After Firm Commitment, the borrower must satisfy project-specific requirements

and work with the lender to schedule a closing on the loan.
53.

FHA is authorized by statute to insure up to 90 percent of the project’s

replacement cost. 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-7(d)(2). For this reason, a standard condition for a Section
242 loan Firm Commitment is that the borrower must contribute a 10 percent down payment.
HUD also often requires escrowed funds, in addition to the down payment, to ensure the
borrower has a sufficient capital cushion to achieve profitability. The down payment and escrow
funds must come from the borrower’s equity and generally cannot be borrowed. These equity
funds are often referred to as “cash to close.”
54.

FHA provides an Initial Endorsement at the mortgage loan closing that allows for

the first release of mortgage funds.
55.

The borrower makes numerous certifications at closing. Those certifications

include “that the fees and expenses enumerated in the Mortgagee’s Certificate have been fully
paid or payment provided for as set forth therein, and that the funds deposited with the
Mortgagee, as enumerated in the said Mortgagee’s Certificate will be used for the purposes
indicated therein.” HUD Form 92433 Mortgagor’s Certificate ¶10. The borrower further
certifies “that the undersigned has no obligations except those approved by HUD.” Id. ¶13. The
lender (Mortgagee) certifies the amount of cash to close received from the borrower. The
borrower further certifies that it “has complied with and not violated the provisions of the
Commitment[.]” HUD Certificate.
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v.
56.

Final Endorsement
As the construction proceeds, the borrower applies for the release of additional

mortgage funds. The lender then applies to the FHA for insurance of these advances until the
construction is completed.
57.

At the close of construction, the lender applies for a Final Endorsement of the

note, which occurs at a second closing for the project. After this second closing, the hospital is
deemed to be operational and is monitored by FHA’s asset management staff.
vi.
58.

Default and Claim

If the borrower defaults, the holder of the mortgage may submit a claim to HUD

for any loss from the default. HUD pays the mortgage holder the outstanding balance on the
loan and other costs associated with the default, thereby minimizing loss when a borrower is
unable to repay an FHA-insured mortgage. HUD pays these insurance claims in two parts. First,
the mortgage holder makes an initial claim for the unpaid principal on the loan, plus interest.
After processing, HUD approves the initial claim for payment, and sends a disbursement request
to the United States Treasury to issue the funds via wire transfer to the holder of the mortgage
note. Second, the mortgage holder makes a second claim for expenses and allowances plus
interest, and HUD pays the remaining balance of the claims.
59.

The holder of the note then transfers the property to HUD, if the mortgage was

foreclosed on, or the note, if there was no foreclosure. HUD sells the property or the note, often
through an auction, and recoups some of the losses.
C.

Borrowers Must Comply With The Requirements Of The Regulatory
Agreement.

60.

In addition to the requirements discussed above, the Firm Commitment is also

conditioned upon the execution of a Regulatory Agreement by the borrower at the Initial
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Endorsement. The Regulatory Agreement provides the means by which FHA can regulate the
borrower and its use of the collateral securing the mortgage loan. 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-7(d)(1); 24
C.F.R. § 242.56.
61.

In order to protect HUD, the borrower is required to agree that any property,

including current and future cash, of the insured project is subject to the restrictions of the
Regulatory Agreement:
As security for the payment due under this Agreement to the reserve fund for
replacements, and to secure the Secretary because of his liability under the
endorsement of the note for insurance, and as security for the other obligations
under this Agreement, the Owners respectively assign, pledge and mortgage to the
Secretary their rights to the rents, profits, income and charges of whatsoever sort
which they may receive or be entitled to receive from the operation of the
mortgaged property … Until a default is declared under this Agreement, however,
permission is granted to Owners to collect and retain under the provisions of this
Agreement such rents, profits, income, and charges, but upon default this
permission is terminated as to all rents due or collected thereafter.
HUD Form 92466 ¶ 12.
62.

The borrower agrees to keep the project in good repair, operate the project

according to its approved purpose, and to not “[a]ssign, transfer, dispose of, or encumber any
personal property of the project, including rents, or pay out any funds except from surplus cash,
except for reasonable operating expenses and necessary repairs.” HUD Form 92466 ¶ 6(b). The
Regulatory Agreement prohibits the borrower from making distributions to owners except from
Surplus Cash and in accordance with the procedures dictated by the agreement.
63.

Surplus Cash is defined by the Regulatory Agreement as cash remaining after the

project has satisfied its various obligations under the Regulatory Agreement. FHA sometimes
also includes a Rider to the Regulatory Agreement with a project-specific definition of Surplus
Cash. HUD Form 92466 ¶ 13(f).
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64.

The Regulatory Agreement provides for serious consequences if it is violated.

Upon notice of a default under the Regulatory Agreement, HUD may request that the mortgage
be declared in default, collect the rents of the property to make any payments required by the
Regulatory Agreement, or take possession of the project. The remedies under the agreement are
in addition to other remedies at law available to HUD.
II.

DEFENDANTS MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND
OMISSIONS TO HUD AND FRAUDULENTLY INDUCED FHA TO ENTER
INTO THE FIRM COMMITMENT.
A.

LRMC Submitted An Initial Application For An FHA-Insured Mortgage
Loan In September 2009.

65.

In 2006, Dr. Sam DeMaio and Dr. Thomas Baldacchino, two Austin-area

cardiologists; Dan Brouillette, a real estate investor who owned the land on which LRMC would
be built; and others began working to build a new for-profit acute care hospital in Lakeway,
Texas. They sought to develop LRMC into a physician-owned and physician-managed hospital
where the physicians who practiced at the hospital would share in the profits and have significant
control over hospital operations.
66.

In February 2008, the initial development group hired SDP to help develop and

manage the hospital. SDP helped form LRMC on or about March 7, 2008. LRMC agreed to a
monthly pre-opening fee of $55,000 that SDP would receive only if LRMC successfully raised
the funds to build the hospital. Upon opening of the hospital, LRMC agreed to pay SDP five
percent of LRMC’s net revenue, capped at $1.2 million the first year, $800,000 the second year,
$480,000 the third and fourth years, and $360,000 every year after. SDP obtained a seat on
LRMC’s board of directors and appointed Defendant Alexander to that seat. Alexander later
became a member of LRMC and acted as the managing member of LRMC. Defendant Prater
served as LRMC’s chief financial officer (CFO).
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67.

In April 2008, LRMC issued a Private Placement Memorandum (PPM) in order to

recruit investors, primarily physician investors. From the beginning, physician support was
considered key to the success of the project. Without sufficient physician referrals and staff, the
hospital would fail.
68.

LRMC originally planned to finance the project through financing from a real

estate investment trust. However, it was unsuccessful in obtaining this financing. Around
February 2009, LRMC began to pursue an FHA-insured Section 242 loan.
69.

In April 2009, LRMC hired Column Guarantee as an advisor and mortgage broker

for an FHA insured mortgage under the FHA Section 242 Mortgage Insurance Program. While
the application was pending, Walker & Dunlop (W&D) purchased Column Guarantee. The
Complaint uses the term “W&D” to refer to both W&D and Column Guarantee.
70.

LRMC met with HUD on June 3, 2009 for a pre-application meeting. During that

meeting, LRMC emphasized the strength of the project, in part through highlighting the 86
physician investors that it had recruited to invest more than $18 million in the project and
practice at the hospital. Some of these investments were in the form of promissory notes, not
cash, as the physicians agreed to contribute when LRMC obtained financing. Defendants
Alexander, Sossi, and Prater attended the meeting. As a result of that meeting, LRMC was
invited to apply for FHA Section 242 insurance.
71.

Later in June 2009, SDP recruited Pacific Medical Buildings (PMB) to recruit an

investment group for a major investment—approximately $20,000,000—in LRMC and develop
an adjacent medical office building. PMB specialized in developing medical office buildings.
Brad Daniel and Jeff Rush were the primary individuals responsible for recruiting the PMB
investment group.
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72.

LRMC created six classes of investment: A, B, C, D, E, and F. Class A was for

the original founding members. Class B was made up of physician investors and community
investors, with physician investors specifically defined as physicians in a position to refer
patients to the hospital. Class C was limited to SDP. Class D was for non-voting investors if the
other classes were fully subscribed. Classes E and F provided preferred returns to the PMB
investors.
73.

In September 2009, LRMC, through W&D, submitted an application for FHA

insurance. Part of that application was a financial feasibility study performed by Crowe Horwath
for LRMC. That study looked at the project’s proposed financial statement and the potential
demand for a hospital in the Lakeway area to determine that the hospital was financially feasible.
74.

Part of the feasibility study looked at LRMC’s prospective medical staff. The

study specifically stated that “LRMC’s medical staff will largely consist of investors in the
Hospital” and provided the following list of “investors by specialty:”
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75.

The study went on to state that LRMC’s financial forecasts were based on a

survey of the identified physician investors’ patient volume, predicated on the assumption that 60
percent of the physicians’ patient volume would move to LRMC. The study—relying on
information provided by SDP on behalf of LRMC—specifically stated that “all physician
investors will be on the active medical staff[.]”
76.

The report indicated these numbers were a conservative reflection of physician

ties to the hospital: “LRMC medical staff will not be limited to investors only. Other community
physicians who desire to participate on the medical staff will go through a standard credentialing
process. Due to the uncertainty of the number of additional physicians who might choose to
participate on the medical staff, management did not forecast any additional volume to be added
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from non investor physicians.” The information was provided by Defendants Alexander, Prater,
and Sossi and individuals working at their direction.
77.

The application also included HUD’s required form 92013. Defendant Alexander

signed the certification quoted in paragraph 45 above as the Manager and Member of LRMC.
B.

Defendants Misrepresented Physician Support For The Project.

78.

HUD conducted an on-site review of LRMC in September 2009 after LRMC

submitted its official application. HUD’s feasibility consultant, NIS Solutions, also attended the
review. HUD’s evaluation focused on whether the hospital would be able to attract enough
physicians, and physician referrals, to succeed. In order to evaluate this, HUD focused on the
number and type of physician investors, as well as the demand for and availability of medical
office building space.
i.
79.

Defendants Misrepresented the Number of Physician Investors

During the on-site review, in response to HUD’s evaluation of the number of

physician investors, Dr. DeMaio disclosed that LRMC had obtained additional physician
investors beyond the 85 listed in the financial feasibility study submitted with LRMC’s
application.
80.

On October 5, 2009, Robert Deen, the account executive at HUD in charge of

underwriting the LRMC proposal, asked for the identity and specialty of the additional physician
investors who planned to be on the medical staff. On October 6, at Defendant Sossi’s direction,
Jennifer Kitchens, an SDP employee working on the LRMC proposal, emailed W&D a list of
102 physician investors, identifying 17 new physician investors. W&D promptly forwarded
Kitchen’s email to Deen and others, including Defendants Alexander and Sossi.
81.

Defendants’ representations regarding physician support for the hospital were not

true. The 17 additional investors were considering investing at the time, but ultimately decided
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not to invest. Defendants never informed HUD that these individuals had not yet invested and
ultimately did not actually invest in LRMC. Accordingly, as Defendant Alexander
acknowledged in sworn testimony: “[T]here was no reason why [Deen] would not have believed
at that point” that there were 102 physician investors who planned to be on the medical staff.
82.

At the same time, some of the original 85 physician investors were leaving the

investment. LRMC issued an amended PPM on October 9, 2009, to conform with certain HUD
funding requirements. LRMC had to provide investors the opportunity to withdraw their
investment—and investors did. Dr. Kurt Von Rueden, Dr. Babu Reddy, and Dr. David Jones all
elected to withdraw their investments from LRMC.
83.

Defendants knew that these physicians had withdrawn their investments from the

project, but did not inform HUD.
ii.
84.

Defendants Did Not Disclose Exclusivity Agreements Between LRMC
and Physician Practices.

Defendants also never informed HUD that, due to lack of demand among

physicians for LRMC’s investment offerings, Defendants were offering potentially lucrative
exclusivity agreements in exchange for the investments. Defendant Sossi negotiated these “side
agreements” to the investment documents, which provided a physician practice the exclusive
right to any unassigned patient in the hospital that required the services the practice offered. For
example, in exchange for an investment of $400,000 and the lease of 3,000 square feet of
medical office space, one physician, through his practice, was promised the “right to designate
the Chairperson of the Pulmonary and Critical Care Department at LRMC and to determine those
qualified physicians who will have privileges at LRMC and be the exclusive providers of all
inpatient and outpatient pulmonary and critical care services for the patients of LRMC[.]” This
side agreement was drafted by Defendant Sossi, and an updated May 17, 2011 version was
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signed by Defendant Alexander. That physician did, in fact, seek to use his side agreement to
exclude other physicians, writing to Sossi in March 2012, before the hospital opened, that “I’ve
been hearing about other pulmonologists here in Austin who are now interested in providing
some form of coverage at LRMC. According to my exclusivity agreement, any potential
pulmonologist/intensivist can only gain privileges if they’re part of my group.” Sossi responded,
agreeing that the physician’s “Side Letter allows you the right ‘to reasonably determine those
clinically qualified physicians who shall have privileges at LRMC in the areas of pulmonology
and critical care practice.’”
85.

While exclusivity agreements are sometimes used in hospital-based practices,

such as anesthesiologists or emergency room doctors, they present risks to physician recruitment
for non-hospital based practices. Specifically, these arrangements can discourage other
physicians with that same specialty from utilizing the hospital, allow the exclusive practice
outsized influence in negotiating payments with the hospital, and create risk for the hospital in
finding replacement doctors if the exclusive practice is ultimately unable to handle the patient
volume.
86.

Defendants never disclosed to HUD the existence of or their intent to enter into

exclusivity agreements, or that they were offering non-disclosed incentives, such as exclusivity,
in exchange for the physician investments they were touting to HUD as proof of demand for the
hospital. Because of Defendants’ omissions, HUD was unable to accurately assess physician
demand, and was unaware of the risks to physician recruitment or the viability of the hospital
created by the exclusivity agreements.
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iii.
87.

Defendants Failed to Disclose Concerns With the Viability of the
Development of Medical Office Buildings Surrounding LRMC.

As HUD evaluated the project, another area of significant concern was the

development of the site surrounding LRMC—in particular, the three planned medical office
buildings. The plans, as presented to HUD in the application, called for the development of three
medical office buildings on that site to house the practices of physicians who intended to practice
at the hospital. HUD viewed the viability of the medical office buildings as a proxy for the
viability of LRMC because a fully functioning and profitable hospital the size of LRMC would
require medical office space to support the anticipated physician practices.
88.

HUD specifically requested information on October 30, 2009. Deen emailed Jeff

Jones, Vice President with W&D and W&D’s account executive for LRMC, identifying the issue
that “the development of all 53+ acres of the Lakeway site on a schedule that parallels the
hospital’s feasibility study projected growth is really important to the Hospital’s success, but the
hospital has no financial control over anything but their 8+ acre parcel of land.” (Emphasis on
“is” in original.) Deen asked for additional information and stated, “[A]ny evidence of financial
commitment by Pacific Medical Buildings or others to build medical office buildings and lease
to physician’s [sic] who will practice/refer to the hospital on a schedule that parallels the hospital
volumes of admissions and referrals in the feasibility study will be of great help. The same
evidence of financial commitment for the day-care center, retail, and hotel space will be helpful.”
89.

Jones forwarded the inquiry along to LRMC. On November 2, Defendant Sossi

directed Jones to respond that “the 53 acre site is scheduled to include: (i) Hospital;
(ii) Retail/Office; (iii) MOB’s [medical office buildings] 1 and 2; (iv) Hotel; and (v) Day Care.
The Hospital tract has been set up to include the Hospital, the garage and if needed an MOB.
These are all controlled by LRMC. PMB has control of the Retail/Office which would cover any
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immediate MOB needs. The other parts will be driven by the development of the hospital.” He
also told Jones to tell HUD that “PMB is also negotiating for the 2nd MOB location. That
discussion is still in process based on feasibility.” W&D, on behalf of LRMC, verbally
communicated this in sum and substance to HUD.
90.

On November 3, Jim Rohan, Senior Vice President for Development for PMB,

wrote to Defendant Alexander, Defendant Sossi, and others, stating, “[T]o date we have not
aggressively marketed the MOB II/III site, because we don’t control them.” He went on to note
“a key element of viability of the MOB II/III site that arose only last week[,]” explaining that the
project would only work financially with paid parking. He then stated, “[W]ith this potential
change in the economic picture, we may be closer to viability on MOB II/III than it appeared. I
do still believe that 190,000 SF is too much building as an initial effort, but if we could justify
paid parking and cut the site in half, we may be able to make this work.” Rohan was always
concerned about the viability of the MOB and that development of MOB 2 and 3 were always
speculative and in fact never occurred. Defendants never communicated these concerns about
the viability of MOB 2 and 3 to HUD.
91.

In fact, the demand for office space was so lacking that Defendants entered into

side deals with physicians guaranteeing that PMB would not lease space in the MOB to a
competing physician or practice, in exchange for the physicians investing in LRMC and leasing a
set amount of space in the MOB. In at least one instance, a physician was required to lease more
space than required by his practice in order to obtain the exclusivity that he sought. Physician
demand never materialized even for one MOB; LRMC ultimately leased much of the building
for its own use.
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92.

Defendants never shared concerns regarding the lack of demand for an MOB, or

the lack viability of the development of the MOB 2 and 3 sites with HUD. These sites were not
in fact developed in part because there was never sufficient demand from physicians to make
them viable and necessary.
C.

HUD Based Its Approval In Part On These Material Misrepresentations And
Omissions.

93.

The above misrepresentations and omissions all occurred as HUD was

considering whether to recommend approval of the Firm Commitment.
94.

In addition to the evaluation by the Client Service Team, HUD hired its own

independent feasibility consultant to check the work and conclusions of the borrower’s feasibility
consultant.
95.

HUD’s feasibility consultant issued its report on October 8, 2009, the day after

receiving the disclosure from LRMC about the increased physician support. That report
identified as key credit strengths that the “equity investment by physicians, projected to be on
medical staff, of $13.6 million ($9.1 million already paid) shows strong commitment.” It further
noted that LRMC has “a diverse recruited medical staff of 102 physicians with an average age of
43.” The report noted as the primary credit weakness that “as a start-up hospital, the ability to
recruit physicians, staff, and patients will be difficult.” Due to Defendants’ misrepresentations
and omissions, the information upon which the HUD feasibility consultant relied was false; in
fact, LRMC did not successfully recruit the additional 17 physician investors included in the
consultants tally and had already lost 3 investors—each of whom had demanded a refund of their
investments.
96.

On February 25, 2010, at the recommendation of HUD’s staff, FHA

Commissioner David Stevens approved the project and authorized the Firm Commitment for a
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$166,872,800 mortgage loan. That approval was based in part on information from Defendants
that “currently, there are 102 physicians who have collectively invested over $18,500,000 (with
approximately $17 million being surplus cash notes).” The HUD staff recommendation cited
these figures and states, in pertinent part: “Conservative Volume Projections. The financial
feasibility study is significantly conservative in terms of demand for services. The method used
to determine volumes took 60 percent of the volumes of 85 investor physicians into
consideration. No volume assumptions were made for non-investors physicians or physicians
who will invest later. Currently, the number of physician investors has grown to 102. It is
predicted that an additional 20 to 30 physicians will invest in the project[;]” and that “the
hospital will be highly visible and surrounded by numerous commercial businesses and MOBs.”
97.

The approval was also based on the mitigation of key risks including the

following: “More primary care physicians are needed. The physician investor group is heavy
with hospital-based physicians, such as pathologists and radiologists who do not admit patients,
and light on primary care physicians who do refer patients for admission.” Another noted risk
was “Medical Office Buildings (MOBs) Development Is Not Within LRMC’s Control. Pacific
Medical Buildings is responsible for developing the MOBs elsewhere on the 53 acre site, but is
not required to meet any deadlines important to LRMC’s development and won’t close on a land
purchase until HUD issues a mortgage insurance commitment on the hospital project.”
98.

The strengths that counseled in favor of insuring the mortgage, noted in paragraph

96, were overstated, due to omissions and misrepresentations by Defendants, and the risks that
counseled against insuring the mortgage, noted in paragraph 97, were exacerbated by the facts
Defendants misstated and hid from HUD. These misstated and undisclosed facts included that
additional physicians had not invested, physicians had already withdrawn their investments,
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PMB was actively questioning the viability of the MOBs and at a minimum planned to downsize
them, and LRMC had negotiated and planned to continue to negotiate exclusivity agreements, as
an undisclosed incentive to invest and to lease space, with physicians who could refer patients to
the hospital thereby discouraging other primary care physicians from using LRMC.
99.

At the same time HUD was considering whether to issue a Firm Commitment,

Congress was finalizing the passage of the Affordable Care Act (ACA). Part of the proposed
legislation, which ultimately was enacted, repealed an exception to the physician self-referral law
(commonly referred to as the “Stark Law”), thus changing the rules surrounding a hospital’s
ability to bill Medicare for services referred by physicians with an equity interest in the hospital.
HUD was concerned that if Congress passed the ACA, as it eventually did, LRMC, as a
physician-owned hospital, would be ineligible to bill Medicare, and therefore would not be
economically viable. Accordingly, HUD was unwilling to approve the project as structured.
100.

LRMC proposed converting the physicians’ equity interests to debt positions

subordinate to any FHA-insured mortgage. LRMC represented to HUD that this debt position
met the amended requirements of the Stark Law. LRMC called this debt “Surplus Cash Notes.”
These Notes would not receive any payments of principal or interest until LRMC was operating
profitably and thereby generating surplus cash.
101.

After numerous discussions both with LRMC and internally with HUD staff, on

January 22, 2010, Deen communicated to W&D that HUD staff had recommended moving
forward to Firm Commitment on the LRMC project “based on physician equity being converted
to surplus cash notes prior to initial endorsement. The first condition indicates that we want to
see the documents that facilitate those conversions prior to the FHA Commissioner’s
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Commitment so that we know that such conversions are in progress and will be completed before
initial endorsement.”
102.

As part of the discussions that led to FHA’s approval of the change to Surplus

Cash Notes, W&D, after consulting with LRMC, communicated to HUD that after receiving
Firm Commitment, LRMC would “receive appropriate sign off from all investors.”
103.

To formalize LRMC’s representations regarding the conversion of physicians

from an equity to a debt position, on February 23, 2010, Defendant Alexander, on behalf of
LRMC, wrote to Roger Miller, the Director of HUD’s Office of Insured Healthcare Facilities:
“We are writing this letter to the Department of Housing and Urban Development (‘HUD’) to
confirm that Lakeway Regional Medical Center (the ‘Hospital’) has agreed to the conversion of
the Physician held Class A and Class B Common Interests in the Hospital to Surplus Cash Notes
to be held by those Physicians in the amount of approximately Seventeen Million Dollars
($17,000,000). The Hospital is in the process of documenting the conversion through the
issuance of a Third Addendum to the Hospital’s Confidential Private Placement Memorandum
and the issuance of the Surplus Cash Notes in the form as approved by HUD. This conversion
will be completed by the Hospital and the affected Physicians prior to Initial Endorsement.”
104.
III.

FHA issued the Firm Commitment to insure the loan on March 18, 2010.

LRMC FAILED TO SATISFY THE CONDITIONS REQUIRED TO CLOSE THE
LOAN AND RECEIVE THE INITIAL ENDORSEMENT FOR FHA INSURANCE.
105.

LRMC, W&D, and HUD scheduled the loan closing for May 21, 2010. LRMC

had to meet the requirements of the Firm Commitment, including converting physician investors
to Surplus Cash Note holders and obtaining all of the funds necessary to meet the cash to close
requirements before the loan closing in order for HUD to endorse the loan at closing.
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106.

The Firm Commitment specifically contained the requirement that LRMC provide

$18,541,479 in “cash equity,” the statutorily required equity down payment, and a $20,218,009
“Initial Operating Capital Fund.” HUD required that “the [Initial Operating Capital Fund]
account must be funded at initial endorsement” and “the Mortgagor [LRMC] may not use
borrowed funds, except those funds received by Mortgagor from the Surplus Cash Notes issued
by Mortgagor in an amount not to exceed eighteen million dollars ($18,000,000) prior to initial
endorsement, to establish the fund.” The Firm Commitment further contained in Exhibit A an
organization chart provided by LRMC that identified the holders of Surplus Cash Notes as from
“former class A & B physicians.” As stated above, Class A & B physicians were represented by
LRMC to be physicians who were original founding members and other physicians who intended
to practice at LRMC.
107.

The Firm Commitment also contained the requirement, detailed in paragraphs 50

and 51 above, that LRMC explain in writing any change to the conditions on which Firm
Commitment was granted and receive HUD approval prior to Initial Endorsement.
108.

In order to convert physician investors to Surplus Cash Note holders, as LRMC

promised HUD, LRMC issued a third Addendum to the PPM on March 30, 2010.
109.

The notice allowed investors to cancel and forfeit any equity investment in

LRMC: “Right to Cancel. The Company hereby offers each Electing Investor the right to cancel
such Electing Investor’s subscription to invest in the Company for a period of thirty (30) days
following the date of this Third Addendum in accordance with the procedures set forth in
paragraph 5 below. Please be aware that if you are an Electing Investor and you elect to cancel
your subscription to invest in the Company, then you have no rights or provisions with respect to
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the Company including, without limitation, any rights to participate in any profits realized by the
Company.”
A.

Given The Opportunity, Physicians Diminished And Canceled Their
Investments.

110.

Both Defendants and W&D recognized the risk that physicians might withdraw.

On April 13, 2010, Jones emailed Defendants Sossi and Alexander asking, “[H]as there been any
resistance from the docs to this point?” Alexander responded, “[V]ery little so far. Frank and
Joel [Canfield] have handled the few negative comments with positive results.” Jones
responded, “[E]xcellent.”
111.

In fact, physicians were resistant to the new deal. Only a week after this email

exchange, LRMC began to assess the physicians’ withdrawal from the hospital. Joel Canfield,
LRMC’s first employee, compiled a list of the physicians who were withdrawing their
investments. He specifically noted LRMC’s internal accounting included the physicians who
had withdrawn prior to Firm Commitment, stating: “[I]ncluded in this list are the other MD’s
who dropped out between the Second and Third Amendment[.]”
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112.

Below is LRMC’s internal accounting by practice of the physician withdrawals as

of April 28, 2010:

From the 85 physicians that LRMC claimed had invested in its application, and the 102 that it later
claimed and that HUD relied on to issue the Firm Commitment, the number had dropped to 76
shortly before the scheduled close of the loan.
113.

Although they were aware of these facts, Defendants did not disclose them to

HUD or W&D. Nor did they disclose that the types of physicians who withdrew were primarily
physicians who refer patients—otolaryngologists, oncologists, orthopedic surgeons,
physical/spine physicians, and primary care physicians—i.e., the types of physicians that HUD
cared most about when considering the feasibility of a new hospital. Defendant Alexander
acknowledged in sworn testimony that he understood physician support, particularly the number
of physicians, was important to HUD.
114.

In addition to physicians who withdrew entirely from the transaction, numerous

physicians significantly diminished their investments. Internally, Defendants recognized that
this reduction in investment potentially jeopardized closing. Defendant Alexander wrote on
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April 27, 2010, that “we will be short of the HUD [equity] requirement and we need to know by
how much today.” On Monday, May 17, 2010, Kitchens circulated to Defendants Alexander and
Prater the following reconciliation of physicians’ investment amounts that showed a $3,925,000
loss in investments:

The reduction was actually $4,425,000.00, as the ED Group (referenced above) did not invest the
$500,000 listed on the reconciliation.
B.

LRMC Did Not Meet The Cash To Close Requirements.

115.

Closing was scheduled for Friday, May 21, 2010, a mere four days after

Defendants Alexander and Prater received the reconciliation described above. LRMC needed
over $38 million to close the loan based on HUD’s requirement in the Firm Commitment.
Internally, LRMC distributed a cash reconciliation on May 17, 2010, to discuss the current cash
shortfall. The reconciliation, sent to Alexander and Prater, showed a cash shortfall of $4.6
million, not including an additional $877,000 due from investors who had not yet funded their
investments. At least $500,000 of the unfunded investments were cancelled, so, in the aggregate,
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LRMC actually had at least a $5.1 million cash shortfall:

116.

LRMC’s board met on conference calls on May 14 and May 18, 2010. According

to the board meeting minutes, “both calls were scheduled to review HUD closing status and the
funding deficit that needed to be bridged to close.” The board recognized that as of May 13,
2010, LRMC was “approximately $4 million short on a cash needs basis to close for HUD.” The
Board agreed to engage in three fraudulent practices in order to deceive HUD and W&D to close
and insure the loan: (1) until after closing, LRMC would not refund investors who had paid for
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their investments but subsequently withdrew, thereby kiting the funds to use them as cash to
close; (2) LRMC would pay two board members, Brad Daniel and Jeff Rush, kickbacks for
Daniel and Rush to collectively loan LRMC $1.5 million; and (3) LRMC would change its
structure, without HUD approval, to allow non-physicians to purchase Surplus Cash Notes,
which would allow LRMC to borrow funds from non-investors through Surplus Cash Notes to
meet the cash to close requirement.
i.
117.

LRMC Used Withdrawn Investors’ Funds as Cash to Close.

As noted above, in order to appear to meet the cash to close requirement, in part,

Defendants used the funds from investors who had withdrawn their investment but who had not
yet received refunds—essentially borrowing or kiting those funds. At closing, LRMC had an
undisclosed liability to the withdrawn investors but did not have sufficient cash to cover the
liability.
118.

On May 17, 2010, Defendant Prater emailed Defendants Sossi and Alexander

regarding the cash reconciliation in paragraph 115 above:
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Prater recognized that the refunds would be funded in part from HUD funds after closing through
“the balance of reimbursements of prepaids from draws[.]” But, even using the HUD funds,
LRMC remained “$631,000 short” of the cash needed to reimburse withdrawn investors.
119.

The Firm Commitment prohibited LRMC from using borrowed funds as cash to

close. The Firm Commitment contained the specific prohibition that “Prior to initial closing, the
Mortgagor shall not without the permission of HUD, unless permitted under the proposed loan
covenants and HUD is informed of such action in writing: […] (4) incur any debt or obligation
other than trade payables in the ordinary course of business; […] Any actions that the Mortgagor
has already taken that conflict with this condition shall be fully explained to HUD’s satisfaction
prior to initial closing.” The refunds owed to withdrawn physician investors were not “trade
payables in the ordinary course of business[,]” were not “permitted under the proposed loan
covenants” or disclosed to HUD “in writing[,]” and were not “fully explained to HUD’s
satisfaction prior to initial closing.” Indeed, Defendants never once informed HUD that they
planned to use these withdrawn funds in this manner.
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120.

Defendant Alexander, on behalf of LRMC, signed the certifications in paragraph

55 above that LRMC had the cash to close, did not have any undisclosed obligations, and
complied with the provisions of the Firm Commitment, none of which were true.
ii.
121.

LRMC Paid Kickbacks to Secure Investments

At the same board meetings discussed in paragraph 116 above, the Defendants

also agreed to pay kickbacks to two investors to fill a portion of the funding gap. As reflected in
the minutes, the board agreed “to go forward with the Side Letters to RD and Jeff Rush … to fill
the funding gaps.” RD refers to RD Development Partners, LLC, a company controlled by Brad
Daniel, an LRMC board member. Jeff Rush was also a board member of LRMC. The side
letters provided that, in exchange for their purchase of $1.5 million in Surplus Cash Notes, Jeff
Rush and RD would receive $1,400,000 in fees from LRMC, $500,000 of which would be paid
as additional Surplus Cash Notes.
122.

Defendants never disclosed these fees to HUD.

123.

Instead, these agreements were done through side letters in order to conceal the

arrangement from HUD. Four days before closing, Defendant Sossi sent an email to Daniel,
copying Defendant Alexander and explaining the need to record the arrangement through side
letters so that HUD would not see the changes LRMC made:
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124.

On May 18, 2010, Brad Daniel emailed Jeff Rush regarding the plan for LRMC to

pay them in exchange for an additional investment (referencing Frank Sossi, Sam DeMaio, and
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Eddie Alexander):

125.

In addition to constituting improper kickbacks, these transactions represent

additional impermissible borrowing by LRMC, both because (i) Rush and Daniel would not need
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to hold the Surplus Cash Notes for more than two years, when Defendants previously had
represented to HUD that the Surplus Cash Notes would not be paid until LRMC was operating
profitably, and (ii) because LRMC promised a fixed fee amount for speculative promises of
work. The latter was specifically forbidden by the Regulatory Agreement, which required the
payment of fair market value for work actually performed. For example, Paragraph 9(b) of the
Regulatory Agreement provides, “Payment for services, supplies, or materials shall not exceed
the amount ordinarily paid for such services, supplies, or materials in the area where the services
are rendered or the supplies or materials furnished.” Moreover, as described in greater detail
below, a Rider to the Regulatory Agreement prohibited LRMC from making distributions to
affiliates, including Rush and Daniel, unless the distributions were “arms-length transactions” for
work performed for the mortgaged property or LRMC had Surplus Cash as defined by the
Regulatory Agreement.
126.

On May 20, 2010, Jim Rohan of PMB wrote to Jeff Rush and Brad Daniel,

recognizing the problematic nature of paying fees for unidentified work while LRMC’s cash was
restricted by the Regulatory Agreement with HUD. He wrote:
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iii.
127.

LRMC Altered Its Investment Structure to Allow Loans to NonPhysicians.
As noted above, LRMC’s board also agreed to allow non-physicians to hold class

B Surplus Cash Notes. This represented a change from the structure previously disclosed to
HUD in which only physicians who intended to practice at the hospital could hold Surplus Cash
Notes.
128.

The Firm Commitment specifically required that any such changes be made only

subject to the prior written approval of HUD:

The Firm Commitment further described the Surplus Cash Note holders as only “Former Class A
& B Physicians” in the “Organizational Chart of Lakeway Regional Medical Center Showing
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Included Property”

But, in order to conceal the cash shortfall from HUD, Defendants changed LRMC’s
organizational structure after the Firm Commitment and a week before closing to allow nonphysicians to hold Surplus Cash Notes. This change was not communicated to HUD and LRMC
did not obtain the “prior written approval of HUD[.]”
129.

LRMC then proceeded to issue Surplus Cash Notes prior to initial endorsement to

non-physicians including Defendant SDP, Rush, Daniel, and Kendall Phinney. Phinney was
involved in Aqualand Real Estate Services, LLC, which owned the land where LRMC planned to
place the hospital and was under contract to sell the land once the FHA-insured mortgage closed.
Defendants did not disclose to HUD that LRMC issued Surplus Cash Notes to non-physicians
and entities with an interest in LRMC’s development.
iv.
130.

Defendants Recognized That LRMC Did Not Have Sufficient “Cash to
Close.”

Immediately after closing, LRMC’s internal documents acknowledged the cash

gap resulting from the borrowed funds used to close the loan. On May 26, 2010, Defendant
Sossi wrote the following email to Defendants Alexander and Prater, among others,
acknowledging this cash gap:
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This email recognized “the refund gap, the PMB project funding gap and the Jeff Rush take out
amount for the last $1.5M[.]” It also noted the “physician gaps” that existed after the initial
closing.
131.

On May 28, 2010, one week after closing, Joel Canfield sent an email to

Defendant Sossi and other LRMC officers providing a reconciliation of monies owed to
physicians for investment refunds. The reconciliation shows LRMC owed withdrawing
physicians $1,845,552.88.
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132.

A June 10, 2010 cash reconciliation of LRMC, shared as part of a Board

conference call on that day and sent to a LRMC’s leadership including Defendants Sossi,
Alexander, and Prater, showed that LRMC was insolvent immediately after closing due to this
borrowed money.

133.

LRMC had an almost $2 million dollar shortfall, even after accounting for the

money from the first draw on the FHA-insured loan.
v.
134.

Defendants’ Fraud Was Material to HUD’s Decision to Insure the Loan.
As described above, Defendants knew that LRMC did not have sufficient cash to

close and took active steps to hide that fact from HUD.
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135.

Defendants also knew that the amount of equity LRMC had at closing was

important to HUD. Defendant Alexander was asked if “the overall size of the equity investment
in Lakeway, was … important to HUD,” and testified under oath that “the amount of equity, the
amount of dollars from that perspective was always important.”
136.

Defendants did not share either with HUD or W&D that they used funds from

investors who had canceled their investment to fund the cash equity or that immediately after
closing LRMC had negative cash account balances.
137.

Had W&D known, it would have informed HUD.

138.

Had HUD known, it would not have allowed the loan to close and be endorsed for

FHA insurance.
IV.

LRMC IMPROPERLY USED FUNDS RESTRICTED BY THE HUD
REGULATORY AGREEMENT.
139.

After the loan closed, Defendants ignored the restrictions placed by the HUD

Regulatory Agreement meant to ensure HUD’s interests were protected before investors received
returns on their investment. LRMC instead paid equity investors and costs HUD specifically
disallowed, all in violation of the Regulatory Agreement.
A.

LRMC Entered Into A Regulatory Agreement Restricting Its Use Of Funds.

140.

In consideration of the mortgage insurance provided by HUD relating to the

hospital, LRMC entered into a Regulatory Agreement dated May 21, 2010.
141.

The Regulatory Agreement and its rider (Rider 1) broadly covered LRMC’s

assets, extending its coverage as follows:
All current or future properties (which includes both personal property and real
property) and revenues of Mortgagor on or off the Mortgaged Property, including
accounts receivable derived from whatever source shall be considered part of the
Mortgaged Property and subject to all provisions of the Regulatory Agreement[.]
Rider 1 Paragraph 20(a).
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142.

The Regulatory Agreement required LRMC, as the owner, to comply with certain

terms and conditions including, but not limited to, the following:
a)

Paragraph 6(b) of the agreement required that the owner shall not, without

prior written approval from HUD, assign, transfer, dispose of, or encumber any personal
property of the project, including rents, or pay out any funds, other than from surplus
cash (as defined in the agreement), except for reasonable operating expenses and
necessary repairs.
b)

Paragraph 6(c) of the agreement required that the owners not, without

prior written approval from HUD, convey, assign, or transfer any beneficial interest in
any trust holding title to the property or any right to receive rents and profits from the
mortgaged property.
c)

Paragraph 6(e) of the agreement required that the owners not, without

prior written approval from HUD, make, or receive and retain, any distribution of assets
or any income of any kind of the project except from, inter alia, surplus cash and nonborrowed funds if prior to the completion of the project.
d)

The agreement further stated: “This covenant does not permit a ‘surplus

cash’ note without the-prior written permission of HUD. A ‘surplus cash’ note is defined
as a note that requires or permits principal repayments only when there is cash available
by satisfying the conditions in Section 23(a)(l) through 23(a)(11) listed above.” Rider 1
Paragraph 23(d).
143.

LRMC had to satisfy each of the conditions in Sections 23(a)(1) through

23(a)(11) of the Regulatory Agreement before it could issue any distributions. LRMC never
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achieved all of the required conditions and so could never have make distributions without
violating the Regulatory Agreement. Those conditions included, inter alia:
(1) Final Endorsement of the HUD insured Deed of Trust Note (the "Note");
(2) Mortgage payments for the preceding 12 months were made when due,
including any grace period;
Rider 1 Paragraph 23(a).
144.

The Regulatory Agreement placed limits on distributions to equity interest

holders, Surplus Cash Note holders and affiliates including SDP, PMB, and RD Development.
145.

LRMC was prohibited by the Regulatory Agreement from making distributions to

affiliates unless the distributions were “arms-length transactions” for work performed for the
mortgaged property or LRMC had Surplus Cash as defined by the Regulatory Agreement.
Pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement, an “arms-length transaction” is a transaction which meets
one of the following conditions: (1) the cost of the services rendered is the lower of the market
value or the fully allocated cost thereof, or (2) must have been equal to or less than the amount
ordinarily paid for such work. Rider 1, Paragraphs 22(c),(d).
146.

The Regulatory Agreement’s definition of Surplus Cash contained numerous

additional requirements to ensure a distribution did not leave LRMC with insufficient cash.
147.

The mortgage loan for LRMC received Initial Endorsement on May 21, 2010.

148.

The mortgage loan for LRMC received Final Endorsement on May 17, 2013.

149.

On October 3, 2013, W&D issued a Notice of Default to LRMC for LRMC’s

failure to make August, September, and October 2013 mortgage payments.
150.

LRMC was released from the Regulatory Agreement on January 12, 2015.
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151.

At no point during the effective dates of the Regulatory Agreement—May 21,

2010 through January 12, 2015—did LRMC have Surplus Cash as defined in the Regulatory
Agreement.
B.

LRMC Violated The Regulatory Agreement, Federal Law, And Federal
Regulations.

152.

Defendants ignored LRMC’s obligations under the Regulatory Agreement. For

example, Defendant Prater, LRMC’s CFO, was responsible for ensuring LRMC’s use of funds
complied with the Regulatory Agreement. Prater did not know what restrictions the Regulatory
Agreement contained because, as he stated in sworn testimony, he never read it.
153.

Similarly, Defendant Sossi disregarded LRMC’s obligations under the Regulatory

Agreement when he suggested that the best course of action was to deceive HUD. After HUD
denied certain expenses, Sossi wrote “we may need to ‘not fight’ on some of the 2nd group
unallowable items – and submit them later when the [HUD Client Service Team] is not looking
at every number.” LRMC then paid, from mortgaged funds, the expenses that HUD had
specifically denied.
154.

As described below, LRMC violated the Regulatory Agreement when it made

distributions without satisfying the Regulatory Agreement’s requirements.
i.
155.

Payments to Equity Holders

Defendants paid money from LRMC’s operating account to equity holders in the

form of a refund of their investments.
156.

Between June 2010 and January 2011, Defendants made 14 payments from

project assets to equity holders in violation of Paragraph 6 of the Regulatory Agreement.
157.

The 14 investor distribution payments total $2,060,729.58, and are more

particularly identified in the below table:
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Amount

Description
Refund of Investment
$250,000.00 Gambarin
Refund of Investment, B&E
$300,000.00 Holdings
$50,000.00
Refund of Investment, Moroz
Refund of Investment,
$100,000.00 Musculoskeletal Trust
Refund of Investment,
Mazursky via MCS Lake
$155,176.70 Business Project, LLC
Refund of Investment,
McCormick via MCS Lake
$100,000.00 Business Project, LLC
Refund of Investment, Breed
via MCS Lake Business
$150,000.00 Project, LLC
$33,000.00
Refund of Investment, Reddy
Refund of Investment, LRMC
$600,000.00 Investments LLC
Refund of Investment, LRMC
$200,000.00 Investments LLC
Refund of Investment,
$50,000.00
Lakeway Texas Investments
Refund of Investment $12,500.00
Holdback Portion, VonRueden
Refund of Investment $10,052.88
Holdback Portion, Frischhertz
Refund of Investment,
$50,000.00
RCMTA, LLC
158.

Date
7/14/2010
7/14/2010
7/14/2010
9/15/2010
6/15/2010
7/20/2010
7/20/2010
7/14/2010
6/30/2010
7/8/2010
7/14/2010
7/14/2010
7/14/2010
1/18/2011

These payments represent the reimbursements to investors who sought to

withdraw their investments prior to the May 2010 FHA insured mortgage closing (Initial
Endorsement). Defendants paid these reimbursements after Initial Endorsement, when the funds
were restricted by the Regulatory Agreement. Defendants failed to pay the reimbursements with
HUD approval, with non-mortgaged funds, or with Surplus Cash, in violation of the Regulatory
Agreement.
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ii.
159.

Payments to Affiliates

Defendants also made 10 affiliate payments to Sossi; Rush; RD Development

(referred to by its former name, RDK Development Partners, in the Regulatory Agreement); and
Pacific Medical Buildings, in violation of Paragraph 6 of the Regulatory Agreement.
160.

Defendants paid money from LRMC’s operating account to TFS Consulting for

the benefit of Defendant Sossi. The payment was for consulting services that were neither
reasonable operating expenses nor represented arms-length transactions.
161.

Defendants paid TFS Consulting from LRMC’s operating account and noted the

payment in a draw request that LRMC submitted to HUD. However, Defendants did not provide
HUD with an explanation of the transaction or indicate the payment was to an affiliated party
and not arms-length.
162.

Defendants did not disclose any other fees identified in paragraphs 163 through

167 to HUD.
163.

Defendants also paid money from LRMC’s operating account to Jeff Rush

Consulting for the benefit of Rush. The payment was for consulting services that were neither
reasonable operating expenses nor represented arms-length transactions.
164.

In addition, Defendants paid money from LRMC’s operating account through

SDP, the manager of the hospital, as a pass-through to RD Development, an investor and affiliate
of LRMC, for management services that were neither reasonable operating expenses nor
represented arms-length transactions.
165.

Defendants also paid money from LRMC’s operating account through SDP, the

manager of the hospital, as a pass through to RD Development and then to PMB, an investor and
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affiliate of LRMC, for management services that were neither reasonable operating expenses nor
represented an arms-length transaction.
166.

In part to cover these payments to PMB, LRMC amended its agreement with SDP

to increase SDP’s fee from $55,000 a month to $110,000 so that SDP could split its fees with
PMB. The First Addendum to the PPM specifically noted that the increased fee was “an
inducement for the PMB Lakeway LLC contribution[.]”

When HUD questioned the amendment to the fee, LRMC did not disclose that the fee would be
split with PMB, that PMB received the fee as an inducement for its investment, or whether PMB
would perform any work. Instead, Defendant Prater informed HUD that “the increase was based
on the additional time and effort required for the re-structure and HUD funding.”
167.

PMB recognized that the fees it received were a return on its equity investment

rather than for work performed. The letter of intent between PMB and SDP that memorializes
the agreement to split SDP’s fees makes clear that the fees were intended to increase the return
on investment for PMB. Immediately after closing, Rohan of PMB wrote to Daniel inquiring,
“when we might expect to see some of the fees that should flow like a river out of the LRMC
closing.”

- 50 -

Case 1:19-cv-00945-LY Document 1 Filed 09/25/19 Page 51 of 58

168.

The 9 non-arms length, affiliate payments total $1,858,500.00, and are more

particularly identified in the below table:
Amount
$160,000.00
$38,500.00
$150,000.00
$100,000.00
$150,000.00
$1,080,000.00
$60,000.00
$60,000.00
$60,000.00
iii.
169.

Description
TFS Consulting
TFS Consulting
Jeff Rush Consulting
RD Development Partners, LLC
Consulting – Jeff Rush
Consulting
RD Development Partners, LLC
Final Jeff Rush Consulting
Payment
RD Development Partners, LLC
– PMB
RD Development Partners, LLC
– PMB
RD Development Partners, LLC
– PMB
RD Development Partners, LLC
– PMB

Date
5/21/2010
10/27/2010
2/1/2011
11/30/2011
1/5/2012

7/15/2010
8/9/2010
9/7/2010
10/7/2010

Payment of Prohibited Lobbying Fees and Early Completion Bonuses

Defendants used money from LRMC’s operating account to pay Butera &

Andrews, a federal lobbyist, by passing funds through SDP.
170.

LRMC submitted a request to HUD to make this payment. HUD rejected

LRMC’s request. Notwithstanding that fact, Defendants made the payment by listing the expense
in a draw request on the FHA- insured loan, obscuring the payment as an account payable to
SDP.
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171.

Defendant Alexander, on behalf of LRMC, certified that LRMC would file a

Standard Form-LLL before paying lobbying fees. LRMC never submitted this form.

172.

This payment was also made in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 1352(a), which prohibits

the use of funds from a federal loan to pay for lobbying.
173.

Defendants also paid money from LRMC’s operating account to Hoar

Construction for the payment of an early completion bonus.
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174.

Defendants requested approval to pay the construction bonus. Robert Deen refused

to give approval on behalf of HUD for the payment from mortgaged funds.

Once again,

Defendants made the payments from mortgaged funds over HUD’s express disapproval.
175.

The 4 prohibited payments to Butera & Andrews and Hoar Construction are

identified below:
Amount
$95,000.00
$135,000.00
$19,583.00
$19,583.00
V.

Description
Surgical Development Partners Butera & Andrews 201005-LR
Hoar Early Completion Bonus
Hoar Early Completion Bonus
Hoar Early Completion Bonus

Date
2/18/2011
9/26/2012
11/7/2014
12/31/2014

LRMC DEFAULTED ON THE FHA-INSURED LOAN.
176.

On May 17, 2013, the mortgage received Final Endorsement from HUD.

177.

LRMC failed to make the required mortgage payments due August 1, 2013,

September 1, 2013, and October 1, 2013.
178.

W&D issued a Notice of Default to LRMC on October 3, 2013, for LRMC’s

failure to make the August, September, and October 2013 mortgage payments.
179.

LRMC remained in default on the mortgage.

180.

On September 16, 2014, Greystone, the subsequent holder of the mortgage note,

assigned the mortgage note to HUD.
181.

HUD paid a Partial Claim Settlement on September 17, 2014 of $154,602,965.89,

which represents a portion of the outstanding principal and interest owed on the mortgage loan.
182.

Final Claim Settlement occurred on November 6, 2014. LRMC’s default on the

mortgage loan caused HUD to pay an additional $18,363,981.49 to fully satisfy its obligation
under the contract for insurance.
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183.

HUD held an auction to see the mortgage note on December 14, 2014 and settled

the sale on December 29, 2014. The Note sold for $50,000,000.00. HUD transferred the note on
January 12, 2015 and released the Regulatory Agreement.
184.

Defendants signed tolling agreements that stated the following: “[T]he period of

time between and including July 21, 2016 and November 1, 2017 shall be excluded when
determining whether any civil or administrative claims are time-barred by statute of limitations,
laches, or any other time-related defenses.”
COUNT I
Violation of the False Claims Act,
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A)
185.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 -

184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
186.

Defendants violated the FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A), by knowingly

presenting or causing to be presented to HUD false and/or fraudulent claims for payment.
187.

The United States paid the false and/or fraudulent claims because of Defendants’

acts and incurred damages as a result.
COUNT II
Violation of the False Claims Act,
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B)
188.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1

– 184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
189.

Defendants violated the provisions of the FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B), by

knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used, false records, or statements:
(i) material to a false or fraudulent claims for payment to HUD; and (ii) which claim the United
States did pay.
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190.

The United States paid the false or fraudulent claims because of Defendants’ acts,

and incurred damages as a result.
COUNT III
Violation of the False Claims Act,
31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(C)
191.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in

Paragraphs 1 – 184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
192.

During the relevant time period, Defendants and their co-conspirators

entered into one or more conspiracies to present or cause to be presented false or fraudulent
claims for payment or approval to HUD and/or to make, use, or cause to be made or used false
records or statements material to such claims.
193.

Defendants and their co-conspirators made or caused to be made such false

claims, records or statements knowingly.
194.

As set forth in Paragraphs 1 - 184 above, Defendants and their co-

conspirators performed acts in furtherance of these conspiracies.
195.

The United States sustained damages because of this wrongful conduct.
COUNT IV
Negligent Misrepresentation

196.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 -

184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
197.

Defendants made representations to HUD on which it relied.

198.

As set forth above, Defendants supplied false information and made material

omissions.
199.

Defendants did not exercise reasonable care in obtaining or communicating the

information.
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200.

As a result of justifiably relying on these representations, HUD incurred losses.
COUNT V
Violation of FIRREA,
12 U.S.C. § 1833a

201.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1

– 184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
202.

As set forth above, for the purpose of fraudulently obtaining the FHA mortgage

insurance in violation of 12 U.S.C. § 1833a, the Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused to
be made or used false and fraudulent records, statements, or certifications and submitted such
false and fraudulent records, statements, and certifications to HUD/FHA in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014 (as amended).
203.

Defendants (a) made statements to HUD with the intent to defraud or deceive

HUD into providing mortgage insurance (18 U.S.C. § 1006); and (b) knowingly made false
statements for the purpose of influencing FHA (18 U.S.C. § 1014, as amended).
204.

As a result Defendants are liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.
COUNT VI
Violation of 12 U.S.C. § l7l5z-4a
205.

The United States repeats and realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1

– 184 above, as if fully set forth herein.
206.

LRMC owned a project with a mortgage insured by HUD under the National

Housing Act.
207.

As the project owner, LRMC executed and was a party to a Regulatory

Agreement pursuant to HUD’s authority to regulate projects with FHA insurance.

- 56 -

Case 1:19-cv-00945-LY Document 1 Filed 09/25/19 Page 57 of 58

208.

As set forth above, Defendants used assets and income in violation of the

Regulatory Agreement.
209.

Based upon Defendants’ use of project assets in violation of the Regulatory

Agreement the United States is entitled to relief under 12 U.S.C. § l7l5z-4a.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff United States of America prays for judgment against the
Defendants as follows:
A.

As to Counts I, II and III under the FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a), treble the amount
of the United States’ single damages to be proven at trial, plus civil penalties as
are required by law in the amount of $5,500 to $11,000 per violation of the FCA,
post-judgment interest, costs, and such other relief as may be necessary and
proper;

B.

As to Count IV, compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial,
plus costs and pre-and post-judgment interest;

C.

As to Count V, a statutory penalty under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a;

D.

As to Count VI, double damages; and

E.

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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JURY DEMAND
The United States demands a trial by jury as to all issues so triable.

Date: September 25, 2019

Respectfully submitted,
JOSEPH H. HUNT
Assistant Attorney General
JOHN F. BASH
United States Attorney

By:

_____________________________________
THOMAS A. PARNHAM, JR.
Assistant United States Attorney
New York Bar No. 4775706
SUSAN STRAWN
Special Assistant United States Attorney
Texas Bar No. 19374330
903 San Jacinto Blvd, Suite 334
Austin, Texas 78701
Tel: (512) 916-5858
Fax: (512) 916-5854
Email: thomas.parnham@usdoj.gov
ANDY J. MAO
SARA MCLEAN
SAMUEL J. BUFFONE
MICHAEL KASS
Attorneys, Commercial Litigation Branch
P.O. Box 261, Ben Franklin Station
Washington, DC 20044
(202) 616-2945
Attorneys for the United States of America

- 58 -

